


COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS

DISCLAIMER

This Annual Report contains
forward looking statements that
are subject to risk factors
associated with the exploration
and mining industry.

It is believed that the expectations
reflected in these statements are
reasonable, but they may be
affected by a variety of variables
which could cause actual results or
trends to differ materially.

Where results from previous
announcements are quoted,
Marmota confirms that it is not
aware of any new information or
data that materially affects the
information included in the
relevant market announcement
and, in the case of estimates of
Mineral Resources, that all material
assumptions and technical
parameters underpinning the
estimates in the relevant market
announcement continue to apply
and have not materially changed.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

EXPLORATION TARGETS

Exploration Targets are reported
according to Clause 18 of the JORC
Code. This means that the
potential quantity and grade is
conceptual in nature and that
considerable further exploration is
necessary before any Identified
Mineral Resource can be reported.
It is uncertain if further exploration
will lead to a larger, smaller or any
Mineral Resource.

COMPETENT PERSON

The information in the Annual Report
that relates to Exploration Results
and Mineral Resources is based on
information compiled by Dr Kevin
Wills who is a Fellow of the
Australasian Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. He has sufficient
experience which is relevant to the
styles of mineralisation and types of
deposits under consideration and to
the activities being undertaken to
qualify as a Competent Person as
defined in the 2012 Edition of the
“Australasian Code of Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves.”

Dr Wills consents to the inclusion in
the report of the matters based on
his information in the form and
context in which it appears.

Shareholders are invited to attend the Marmota 2020 AGM:

420 King William Street

Venue: BDO
Level 7
Adelaide,
Time:

South Australia

Wednesday 25 November 2020 at 3 pm (Adelaide time)

Full details are contained in the Notice of Meeting available online.

FRONT COVER: Road train arrives at Aurora Tank (July 2020) to set up semi-permanent camp
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CHAIRMAN'’S
REPORT

Dear Fellow Shareholder

It is with considerable pleasure that we present the Marmota Ltd 2020 Annual Report.
We are delighted with the progress being made at our Aurora Tank gold discovery.

Aurora Tank Gold Discovery

During the financial year, Marmota obtained its highest ever 1m gold
intersection of 120 g/t gold just 21m from surface [ ASX:MEU 19 Sept 2019 ] at
Aurora Tank, surpassing Marmota’s previous best 1m intersections at Aurora
Tank of 105 g/t gold (located 120m to the North; 38m from surface) and 93 g/t
gold (located 200m to the NE; 32m from surface). The subsequent December
2019 / January 2020 RC extensional drilling program (7,228m for 84 holes)
yielded multiple outstanding high-grade 1m intersections including 74 g/t gold
[with duplicate samples (via different spear) of up to 104 g/t ] [ Hole 20ATRC200 ]
[ ASX 27 Feb 2020, 8 April 2020 ], and doubling the length of the new NW Flank.

R&D Program and Biogeochem Exploration Program

Marmota’s exploration success and innovative methodology including the use of
biogeochemical sampling (tree sampling) again received substantial media
coverage on radio, TV, in mainstream newspapers, and in international media
including a feature article in New Scientist (August 2019). The biogeochemical
sampling program has recently been further boosted by a $225,000 grant from
the South Australian Government under the Accelerated Discovery Initiative
(ADI) [ ASX:MEU 24 June 2020 ]. The recognition is again a rewarding testament
to the technical excellence and vision of Marmota’s exploration team.

Metallurgy: Excellent Column Leach Recoveries and the Heap Leach Pathway

Marmota previously carried out bottle roll metallurgical tests to provide an
estimate of gold recoveries that may be achievable by processing ore through a
mill. The bottle roll tests for Aurora Tank ore consistently returned excellent
gold recovery rates over 90% [ ASX:MEU 20 Aug 2018 ]. In @ most important result
for the Company [ ASX:MEU 10 Oct 2019 ], during the financial year, the first
column leach test, using diamond core ore sampled from Aurora Tank, returned
excellent gold recoveries of 83% ... which is considered very high by industry
standards for column leach metallurgy. The excellent column leach test gold
recoveries suggest that Aurora Tank is amenable to low-cost low-capex heap



leach techniques. A heap leach would mean that Marmota would not need to
construct a mill, nor share revenue with external parties for toll treatment in a
mill. This is a highly desirable outcome for both the Company and our
shareholders.

* COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had minimal impact on the Company’s operations.
In part, this is because the Company’s exploration ground and activities are
located in remote and largely uninhabited areas of South Australia, and in part
because the incidence of COVID-19 in South Australia itself has been minimal.
Even if that were not the case, the Company can easily adapt to a distributed
model of operation. While the number of physical Board meetings has reduced,
we have instead transformed to a model with frequent Board interactions by
telephone. Both of the Company’s core underlying fundamentals (gold and
uranium) have seen significant strength over the course of the year.

® Corporate

In September 2019, we welcomed Shane Barker into the new position of
Executive Director — Production. Shane has extensive production experience,
and in particular with heap-leach production methods.

On the capital side, the Company raised $2.5 million (before costs) via a heavily
oversubscribed Share Purchase Plan (SPP) in December 2019. The Company is
very grateful for the support of our shareholders, and is equally working hard to
reward that support. Shortly after the end of the financial year, in July 2020, the
Company raised a further $6.5 million via a heavily oversubscribed placement to
sophisticated and professional investors.

In summary, in the last year, the Company has recorded its best gold exploration
results ever, close to surface, with excellent gold recoveries from metallurgical
testwork, potentially enabling low-cost low-capex open-pittable production methods.
The Company is fortunate to be in its strongest financial position in many years, at the
same time that underlying fundamental gold prices are showing considerable upside,
so placing the Company in a very strong position to maximise value for our
shareholders. | am very confident that the year ahead will be another exciting one for
our shareholders.

Dr Colin Rose
Chairman



REVIEW OF
OPERATIONS

GOLD Gawler Craton — NW of Tarcoola, SA
URANIUM Junction Dam — NW of Broken Hill (in SA)
COPPER Melton — Yorke Peninsula, SA
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Figure 1: Map showing Marmota tenements




TENEMENT STATUS

(as at 30 September 2020)

SOUTH AUSTRALIA
Project name Tenement Number Area Details Marmota’s Status
‘ ‘ (kmz) ‘ ‘ interest %
JV with Teck Australia, 100% of the

Junction Dam Junction Dam EL 5682 341 Ea\;?v.::::/rll '\Gﬂégfcjgial mi:gizlll:ghts Granted

ELA 2020/00030
Consulting

Melton West Melton EL 5832 88 100% Granted
Indooroopilly EL 5799 100 100% Granted

Gawler Craton Lake Anthony EL 6082 495 100% Granted

West Block Mt Christie EL 6123 466 100% Granted
Cudyea EL 6348 110 100% Granted
Aurora Tank EL 6470 48 100% Granted

ﬁ:"‘s’:zzkcram“ Woorong Downs EL 6083 458 100% Granted
Comet EL 6084 268 100% Granted
Commonwealth Hill EL 6040 196 100% Granted
Ambrosia EL 6513 854 100% Granted
Muckanippie EL 6166 145 100% Granted
Mulgathing EL 5759 652 100% Granted

Gawler Craton Pundinya EL 6514 435 100% Granted

SE Block Bradman EL 6463 92 100% Granted
Carnding EL 5861 53 100% Granted
Irria EL 5930 406 100% Granted
Pegler EL5914 77 100% Granted
Malbooma EL6371 178 100% Granted
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GOLD

Gawler Craton

Key Points

Marmota is searching for the next Challenger-style system

The Challenger mine produced over 1.2 million ounces of gold

(i.e. more than AS3 billion of gold at current prices)

Originally discovered using simple calcrete sampling

Dr Kevin Wills, the geologist who designed the programs that discovered Challenger,
is now heading up Marmota’s exploration team

Marmota tenements now cover more than 5,000 km? of highly prospective area
around Challenger

Exploration is yielding excellent results: MEU Gold Discovery at Aurora Tank
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Figure 2: Marmota’s Gawler Craton Gold Project, around the Challenger Gold mine.
Aurora Tank Gold discovery highlighted in RED
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GOLD DISCOVERY

at AURORA TANK

Aurora Tank is located about:

During the financial year, Marmota obtained its highest ever 1m gold intersection of 120 g/t gold
just 21m from surface [ ASX:MEU 19 Sept 2019 ] at Aurora Tank, surpassing Marmota’s previous best
1m intersections at Aurora Tank of 105 g/t gold (located 120m to the North; 38m from surface)
and 93 g/t gold (located 200m to the NE; 32m from surface).

The subsequent December 2019 / January 2020 RC extensional drilling program yielded multiple
outstanding high-grade 1m intersections including 74 g/t gold [ ASX 27 Feb 2020, 8 April 2020 ], and

100km SW of Coober Pedy, and

100% owned

50km NE of the Challenger gold mine [ see Fig. 2 ]
.... in the highly prospective and under-explored Woomera Defence Area.

doubling the length of the new NW Flank.

Summary Highlights [to 30 June 2020]:
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Note: The above table does not yet include any results from the July to September 2020 Aurora Tank drilling program
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which commenced after the end of the financial year. The results of that program are expected after

this Annual Report goes to press.
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Marmota Aurora Tank (Goshawk) Drill Program Summary
Date Number of Drill Holes Metres
September 2016: 98 angled aircore 4,385 m
December 2016: 31 angled RC 2,604 m
1
June —July 2017: 48 angled AC 2,299 m (at Goshawk)
. 2
November 2017: 6 angled diamond core 186 m
April — May 2018: 41 angled RC 3,538 m (at Goshawk)
3
September 2018: 24 angled RC 2,795 m (at Goshawk)
4
June 2019: 64 angled AC 3,300 m (at Goshawk)
Dec 2019 — Jan 2020: 64 angled RC’ 5,508 m (at Goshawk)
July — Sept 2020: 130 angled RC® 12,145 m (at Goshawk)
Total at Goshawk 506 holes 36,760 m
411,800 412,000 412,200 412,400
Dec 2019/Jan 2020 drill results ®
«<_MARMOTA — (highlights) 3m @24 g/t Au
¢+~ ==, New mineralised incl. 1Im @ 51 g/t Auf| ém @ 11 g/t Au
AURORA TANK L PEEE zone 4m @8.9 g/t Au p| incl. ITm @ 58 g/t Au
EL 6470 incl. 1Tm @ 26 g/t Au 2m@83g/tAu) |SM@13g/tAu
8]| cosHAWK ZONE //Nm T B | . 1m @ 44 g/t Au
s 0 25 50 100 kNW flank /|4m @15 g/t Au
 mefes incl. Im @ 53 g/t Au
Projection: GDA94 253 3m @ 29 g/f AU
Drillhole Results . linc.1m@ 74 /f Au
Maximum gold assay over Tm
(g/t Au) 1m @ 44 g/t Au
2016/2019 Dec2019/Jan202 M@ /Ay €
\ 4
Soio2 kot [ | [fm@Sg/Au & LI O e incl
O 02-05 | 02-05 incl. 1Tm @ 20 g/t Au b ®, P
® 05-10 W 05-10 ’ @ d P ® P ® 4m @ 6.2 g/t Au
® -5 W 1-5 . ] B
§ @5 W5 9m @7 g/t Au . ~1m @ 18 g/t Au|
2 Gl 1m @29 g/t Au ﬁ'. - me
o 5m @ 27 g/t Au" .- v 3 =
) 0 ) 2m @ 67 g/t Au
incl. Im @ 105 g/t Au - ° 2
) 0 incl. Im @ 93 g/t Au
7m@5g/tAu y | ® incl. Im @ 41 g/t Au
incl. 1m @ 22 g/t Au 7° " ®
5m @ 10 g/t Au / Q
o y K
2m @10 g/t Au/ v ®
@ 3m@10 g/| Au - / | Gﬁin Calcrete (ppb)
incl. 1m @ 23 g/t Au / . -5
S 5m@7 g/t Au incl. Im@ 19 g/t Au 5=10
o " | 10-20
g LBt 2 A 1m @ 120 g/t Au 2.5
o 3m@i2g/tAu
incl. 2m @ 16 g/t Au
10m @6 g/t Au 0 25 50 100
incl. Im @ 42 g/t Au
METRES
411,800 412,000 412,200 412,400
Figure 3: Aurora Tank: Best downhole gold results + new NW flank ——-—— [as at 30 June 2020]
1 Infilled drillhole coverage to (approx) 50m depth, to (approx) 20 x 20m over a strike length of 500m
2 To provide high-quality geological information, including orientation, to assist resource modelling, and provide samples
for the subsequent petrology and metallurgical analysis
3 In addition, there was also a reconnaissance program of 7 vertical RC holes (392m) outside the Goshawk mineralised zone.
4 In addition, there was also a reconnaissance program of 72 AC holes (3,700m) outside the Goshawk mineralised zone.
> In addition, there was also a reconnaissance component of 20 RC holes (~1,700m) outside the Goshawk zone.
6

In addition, there were 4 reconnaissance RC holes (336m) outside the Goshawk zone.
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Figure 4: Schematic long-section through new NW flank [ asat 30 June 2020 ]
Strike has doubled and remains open

Figure 5:  Drilling at Aurora Tank in September 2020
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Phase 3 Metallurgy  Column Leach tests

Marmota previously carried out Phase 1 and 2 bottle roll metallurgical tests to provide an
estimate of gold recoveries that may be achievable by processing ore through a mill. The bottle
roll tests for Aurora Tank ore consistently returned excellent gold recovery rates over 90%.

If favourable metallurgical conditions exist, it is also sometimes possible to commercially process
ore without the expense and complications of a mill, using instead a much simpler cheaper heap
leaching process. The trade-off is that gold recoveries using a heap leach can be much lower than
via using a specialised mill, while the upside is that the cost of building and/or operating a mill
can be avoided. A column leach test is used to estimate gold recoveries from a heap leach
process.

First Column Leach Test yield excellent gold recoveries

Marmota was very pleased to announce [ASX:MEU 10 Oct 2019 ] that the first column leach test,
carried out by Bureau Veritas, using diamond core ore sampled from Aurora Tank, returned
excellent gold recoveries of 83% ... which is considered very high by industry standards for
column leach metallurgy.

Figure 6 summarises the leach performance over time.

Gold recoveries vs Time: Column Leach Performance

90

80 = ~
70

60 /r

50 f
wlf
30

20 [

Gold Recovery (%)

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 100 105 110 115 120

Leach Time (Days)

Figure 6: Column Leach Gold recoveries (with 9kg binder) vs time

«“

The excellent column leach test gold recoveries suggest that Aurora Tank is
amenable to low-cost low-capex heap leach techniques. A heap leach
would mean that Marmota would not need to construct a mill, nor share
revenue with external parties for toll treatment in a mill. This is a highly
desirable outcome for both the Company and our shareholders. ”



Mineragraphic testwork show gold is predominantly primary

In May 2020, Marmota reported the results of mineragraphic testwork of gold
grains sampled from a high-grade gold intersection at Aurora Tank. The sampled
grains were found to be predominantly primary mineralisation, with the colour
indicating high purity gold.

[ see ASX:MEU 21 May 2020 ]

Tests of gold

grains (105 g/t) 3 it __ R i
collected at 38m v VR e
downhole on the “ = ) Ly
NW flank : g ;
s : fine sulphosalts
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PRIMARY
mineralisation.
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5 i Ak Primary gold grains
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Suggests host : Sl .
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minerailisead ioaes 2
can be expected to § gold particles)
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continue to depth
below zone

currently drilled
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(Mag. x 200; scale bar =50y; reflected light)

Fig. 7: Primary Hypogene Gold grains sampled from Hole 104 at Aurora Tank

Most of the gold grains and associated sulphide minerals examined appear of
primary hypogene origin which suggests that their host mineralised lodes can
be expected to geologically continue to depth below the zone currently drilled.

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Company’s largest RC drilling program
at Aurora Tank commenced [ASX:MEU 24 July 2020 ] . The results of that program are
expected shortly after the release of this Annual Report (in early November 2020).



Aurora Tank
New Camp installed and already operational

As Marmota transitions towards a pathway to production at its Aurora Tank gold
discovery, in June 2020 the Company commenced setting up a semi-permanent camp
facility at Aurora Tank. The front cover of this Annual Report shows a road train
arriving at Aurora Tank with components of the new camp.

° Camp includes:
multiple sleeping quarters
separate kitchen &
separate management office

° First stage: 5 air-conditioned donga units installed

Figure 8: Components of camp being unloaded at Aurora Tank from road train
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Marmota Chairman, Dr Colin Rose, said:

“ I'am delighted that we have now set up
a semi-permanent camp at Aurora Tank
to provide critical infrastructure. It is
also a transition point for the Company
and enables us to expedite the
operations pathway at our Aurora Tank
gold discovery. ”

(| | ‘:: ,,1

Figure 9: Aurora Tank - the new camp starts to take shape
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COPPER Copper Coast — Yorke Peninsula

The Melton tenements are situated on the Copper Coast of the Yorke Peninsula in South Australia,
approximately 50km north of Rex Minerals Ltd’s Hillside copper-gold deposit, along the same
eastern portion of the mineral-rich Olympic sub domain. Over the financial year, the Company’s
priority has been focused on its new gold discovery at Aurora Tank.

URANIUM Junction Dam

Highlights
Junction Dam is strategically located 15 km east from the Honeymoon (ASX:BOE)
in-situ recovery (ISR) uranium mine (west of Broken Hill)

Marmota has:

®  JORC Inferred Resource of 5.4 million pounds U3Og
with average grade of 557ppm U3Og [ ASX:MEU 18 Nov 2011, 20 Feb 2012, 17 July 2013 ]

*  Overall Exploration Target’ of 22-33 million pounds U;04
at approx. 400 to 700 ppm U30g

®  Assay grades of up to 8,143ppm U;0g at the Saffron deposit

Over the year:

1. Itis very much apparent that sentiment in the uranium sector has
significantly improved, and continues to improve.

2. Boss Resources (ASX:BOE) — the owners of the Honeymoon plant
approximately 15km away — appear to be making progress towards bringing
the Honeymoon plant back into operation.

3. The MEU Board commenced a strategic review of its uranium assets to add
value to shareholders. For full detail, see: ASX:MEU 11 June 2020.

Marmota is particularly well-placed for any upturn in the uranium sector, with an
existing uranium JORC Resource that the Company spent millions of dollars to develop
in prior years, and which is located adjacent to one of only 4 permitted mines in
Australia. The Board is watching developments in this space closely.

Saffron deposit with Bridget and Yolanda prospects: see ASX:MEU 9 July 2012. The potential quantity and grade of an
Exploration Target is conceptual in nature. The estimates of Exploration Targets should not be misunderstood or
misconstrued as estimates of Mineral Resources. It is uncertain if further exploration over those zones currently
defined by an Exploration Target will result in the determination of a Mineral Resource.



MEU In the News

Marmota’s innovative geochemical/biogeochemical R&D program and gold
discoveries are attracting both national and international attention.

Marmota says its SA
project is heaps good

CAMERON ENGLAND
BUSINESS EDITOR

MARMOTA shares jumped
yesterday on news the com-
pany’s Aurora Tank Gold pro-
ject could be able to recover
gold without using a proces-
sing mill

The Adelaide company,
which is famous for its explo-
ration process which measured
trace gold elements in tree
leaves to determine new explo-
ration targets, said tests
showed the ore at the project,
in central South Australia, re
sponded well to chemical
leaching.

Gold can be extracted from
ore via heap leaching, which
involves trickling reagents
through a heap of ore and dis-
solving out the desired miner-
als.

Marmota told the ASX that
the trade off is that the process,
which is much cheaper as it
gets around the need to build a
processing mill or contract out
ore processing, often results in
much lower gold recoveries,

“Marmota is very pleased to
announce that the first column
leach test, carried out by Bu-

SUCCESS: Marmota Energy’s Aurora Tank project in Far
North SA, where the company has had good drilling results.

Tank, has returned excellent
gold recoveries of 83 per cent,
which is considered very high
by industry standards for col-
umn leach metallurgy,” the
company said.

covery rate of more than
90 per cent.

“The amenability of gold re-
covery at Aurora Tank by heap
leaching methods is consid-
ered likely to be feasible,” the

Colin Rose said the results
were encouraging.

“Marmota has been investi-
gating the optimal path way to
production at Aurora Tank,”
he said.

“The excellent column
leach test gold recoveries sug-
gest that Aurora Tank is amen-
able to low-cost low-capex
heap leach technigues.

“A heap leach would mean
that Marmota would not need
to construct a mill, nor share
revenue with external parties
for toll treatment in a mill.

“This is a highly desirable
outcome for both the company
and our shareholders.”

More work will now be
done testing the process using
different crush sizes and sam-
ples from different parts of the
ore body.

Last month Marmota told
the ASX it had returned explo-
ration results of up to 120
grams of gold per tonne of ore
over an intersection of Im, just
21m below the surface.

Aurora Tank is located
50km northeast of the Chal
lenger Gold Mine, which has
pulled more than one million
ounces of gold out of the earth.

Source: Adelaide Advertiser 11 October 2019

During the financial year, the Company’s R&D program and its gold discoveries
were featured in, amongst many others:

Channel 7 News

31 July 2019

Australian Mining Review July 2019

2GB
The Asia Miner
Mining Monthly

31 July 2019

1 Aug 2019
1 Aug 2019

Queensland Mining & Energy

New Scientist
Adelaide Advertiser

Adelaide Advertiser
The Northern Miner
Adelaide Advertiser
ABC Radio

InDaily

17 Aug 2019
20 Sept 2019

11 Oct 2019
March 2020
9 April 2020
24 June 2020
15 July 2020

“Tree leaves used to find gold in South Australia”
“Gold in them thar hills”

Money News with Ross Greenwood
“Marmota announces gold grades”
“Aurora Tank and the case of the golden leaves”
“Tree leaf mining method works”
“A company has used trees to find gold deep underground”
“An Adelaide company is testing leaves to help

figure out where to drill for gold — and it’s working.”
“Marmota says its SA project is heaps good.”
“Reading the tree leaves.”
“Marmota up on gold strikes.”

Late Afternoons with Narelle Graham
“Marmota raises $6.5m to fast-track SA gold project.”
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report on Marmota Limited and controlled entities (‘Group’) for the financial year
ended 30 June 2020 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Directors
The Directors of Marmota Limited (‘the Company’) at any time during or since the end of the financial year are
as set out below. Details of Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are as follows:

Dr Colin Rose Executive Chairman
PhD (Economics)

Experience and expertise

Dr Rose has been non-executive Chairman of Marmota since 1 May 2015 and Executive Chairman since
5 June 2017. Dr Rose holds a PhD in Economics from the University of Sydney. He is a long-term
fundamentals investor in the mining and exploration sector, with particular exposure to gold and copper.
He has extensive business experience as the founder and director of a technology company whose
software is used in over 55 countries. He has been invited to speak to the Reserve Bank of Australia, the
Bank of England, the National Bureau of Economic Research (USA), and the London School of Economics
(Financial Markets Group).

Responsibilities
Special responsibilities include Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Chairman of the Audit,
Governance and Remuneration Committee.

Interests in Shares and Options (as at 18 August 2020):
® 92,945,187 ordinary shares

Dr Kevin Wills  Executive Director — Exploration
BSc, PhD, ARSM, FAusIMM

Experience and expertise

Dr Wills was acting Managing Director for the period 14 November 2016 to 30 January 2017, and Executive
Director (Exploration) since 5 June 2017. He is a geologist with significant experience in multi-commodity
mineral exploration including feasibility studies, mine operations and corporate activities in Australasia. He
has been closely involved in the discovery and evaluation of economic mineral deposits of: diamonds (Argyle,
WA), base metals (Thalanga & Waterloo QLD), gold (Murchison WA and Challenger SA), mineral sands
(Burekup, WA) and iron ore (Blacksmith WA). Dr Wills was Managing Director of Flinders Mines Limited for
over ten years. He is an Associate of the Royal School of Mines, past Chairman of the Adelaide Branch and a
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Between 2010 and 2015, he was an Adjunct
Associate Professor at the University of Adelaide engaging in teaching economic geology and mineral
exploration. He founded the SA Exploration and Mining Conference in 2004 and was Chairman of the
organising committee until early 2018. In 2016, he was awarded the GSA’s Joe Harms Medal for excellence in
mineral exploration, and in 2017, the AusIMM’s Institute Service Award.

Responsibilities
Dr Wills also acts as Head of Exploration and as a competent person on JORC resource reporting matters. He
is also a member of the Audit, Governance and Remuneration Committee.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years
Dr Wills was a Director of Tychean Resources Limited from 1 September 2015 to 18 December 2017.

Interests in Shares and Options (as at 18 August 2020):
¢ 930,062 fully paid ordinary Shares
¢ 2,000,000 unlisted 3 cent Options expiring 9 November 2021 issued under the Director & Employee
Share Option Plan (DESOP).
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Mr Shane Barker Executive Director — Production (appointed 1 September 2019)
BAppSc (Metallurgy)

Experience and expertise

Mr Barker joined the Board on 1 September 2019 in the new role of: Executive Director (Production). He is a
metallurgist with extensive production experience over more than 30 years at companies such as BHP
(Olympic Dam Expansion Study, Kalgoorlie and Kambalda), Evolution Mining, WMC, Ross Mining, Sons of
Gwalia, ALCOA, Coolgardie Gold etc. Mr Barker was the principal metallurgist and Manager of the Processing
team operating the highly successful White Dam gold heap leach mine in South Australia. He has worked both
within Australia and internationally. His experience has encompassed most metallurgical unit processes such
as crushing, grinding, flotation, CIL/CIP, heap leaching, BiOX, thickening, filtration and tailings management.

Responsibilities
Mr Barker will be providing part-time consulting services as Head of Production.

Interests in Shares and Options (as at 18 August 2020):
¢ 371,087 fully paid ordinary Shares

Mr Peter Thompson Non-Executive Director (ceased 1 September 2019)
BSc Hons (Geology), MSc (Mineral Exploration and Mining Geology)

Experience and expertise

Mr Thompson has been a Board member since 26 May 2015. He is a Geologist with significant industry
experience in both Exploration and Mining roles. Educated at Trinity College Dublin (BSc Hons — Geology) and
Leicester University (MSc — Mineral Exploration and Mining Geology), he has worked in exploration for gold,
copper, nickel and platinoids, and in open pit and underground gold mines. Over a career of 29 years, Mr
Thompson has worked for BCD Resources NL as CEO, at St Barbara Mines Limited as General Manager
Exploration, as well as holding senior exploration and project development roles with Jubilee Mines NL,
Anaconda Nickel Ltd and Western Mining Corporation. At St Barbara Mines, Mr Thompson’s responsibility
included managing a team of 22 geoscientists. In addition to being responsible for the discovery of several
nickel and gold deposits, he has extensive mining and corporate development experience.

Responsibilities
Special responsibilities included Chair of the Audit, Governance and Remuneration Committee until
resignation.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Mr Thompson was CEO and Managing Director of Central Asia Resources NL (ASX:CVR) from 4 July 2014 to
8 February 2016 and a Non-Executive Director from that time until 5 September 2016. Peter was CEO and
Managing Director of Capricorn Metals Ltd (ASX: CMM) from 3 February 2016 until 14 March 2017.

Interests in Shares and Options (as at 18 August 2020)
¢ 700,000 ordinary shares
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Directors’ meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company
(including committees of Directors) during the financial year were as follows:

Audit, Governance and Remuneration

Directors’ Meetings Committee Meetings
Number Eligible Number Eligible
to attend Number attended to attend Number attended
Director
Dr Colin Rose 4 4 2
Dr Kevin Wills 4 4 2
Shane Barker 3 3 - -
Peter Thompson 1 1 - -
Company Secretary

Lisa Askham-Levy (CGMA) was appointed Company Secretary, effective 18 January 2018.

Ms Askham-Levy is a Member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. She has over 10 years of
accounting experience, including accounting positions in a number of listed companies. Lisa has worked within
the healthcare, finance and not-for-profit industries.

Principal activities
The Group’s principal activity is minerals exploration.

Review and results of operations
During the Financial Year, Marmota focused its exploration efforts on its highly prospective gold tenements in
the Gawler Craton that are yielding excellent results.

Gold Discovery at Aurora Tank

During the financial year, Marmota obtained its highest ever 1m gold intersection of 120 g/t gold just 21m from
surface [ ASX:MEU 19 Sept 2019 ] at Aurora Tank, surpassing Marmota’s previous best 1m intersections at
Aurora Tank of 105 g/t gold (located 120m to the North; 38m from surface) and 93 g/t gold (located 200m to
the NE; 32m from surface). The subsequent December 2019 / January 2020 RC extensional drilling program
(7,228m for 84 holes) yielded multiple outstanding high-grade 1m intersections including 74 g/t gold [with
duplicate samples (via different spear) of up to 104 g/t] [ Hole 20ATRC200] [ ASX 27 Feb 2020, 8 April 2020 ],
and doubling the length of the new NW Flank.

R&D Program and Biogeochem Exploration Program

Marmota’s exploration success and innovative methodology including the use of biogeochemical sampling (tree
sampling) again received substantial media coverage on radio, TV, in mainstream newspapers, and in
international media including a feature article in New Scientist (August 2019). The biogeochemical sampling
program has recently been further boosted by a $225,000 grant from the South Australian Government under
the Accelerated Discovery Initiative (ADI) [ ASX:MEU 24 June 2020 ].

Metallurgy: Excellent Column Leach Recoveries and the Heap Leach Pathway
Marmota previously carried out bottle roll metallurgical tests to provide an estimate of gold recoveries that
may be achievable by processing ore through a mill. The bottle roll tests for Aurora Tank ore consistently
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returned excellent gold recovery rates over 90% [ ASX:MEU 20 Aug 2018 ]. In a most important result for the
Company [ ASX:MEU 10 Oct 2019 ], during the financial year, the first column leach test, using diamond core
ore sampled from Aurora Tank, returned excellent gold recoveries of 83% ... which is considered very high by
industry standards for column leach metallurgy. The excellent column leach test gold recoveries suggest that
Aurora Tank is amenable to low-cost low-capex heap leach techniques. A heap leach would mean that
Marmota would not need to construct a mill, nor share revenue with external parties for toll treatment in a
mill. This is a highly desirable outcome for both the Company and our shareholders.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had minimal impact on the Company’s operations. In part, this is because the
Company’s exploration ground and activities are located in remote and largely uninhabited areas of South
Australia, and in part because the incidence of COVID-19 in South Australia itself has been minimal. Even if that
were not the case, the Company can easily adapt to a distributed model of operation. While the number of
physical Board meetings has reduced, we have instead transformed to a model with frequent Board
interactions by telephone. Both of the Company’s core underlying fundamentals (gold and uranium) have seen
significant strength over the course of the year.

Corporate

Non-executive director Peter Thompson departed in September 2019 to pursue a new position in Mongolia.
Peter has been on the Board since 2015 and the Company is very grateful indeed for his most valued
contribution and support. In September 2019, we welcomed Shane Barker into the new position of Executive
Director — Production. Shane has extensive production experience, and in particular with heap-leach
production methods.

On the capital side, the Company raised $2.5 million (before costs) via a heavily oversubscribed Share
Purchase Plan (SPP) in December 2019. The Company is very grateful for the support of our shareholders, and
is equally working hard to reward that support. Shortly after the end of the financial year, in July 2020, the
Company raised a further $6.5 million via a heavily oversubscribed placement to sophisticated and
professional investors.

In summary, in the last year, the Company has recorded its best gold exploration results ever, is fortunate to
be in its strongest financial position in many years, at the same time that underlying fundamental gold prices
are showing considerable upside, so placing the Company in a very strong position to maximise value for our
shareholders.

We look forward to the year ahead!

Competent person statement

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results and Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Dr Kevin
Wills who is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. He has sufficient experience which is relevant to the styles of
mineralisation and types of deposits under consideration and to the activities being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as
defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Dr Wills
consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which they appear.

Where results from previous announcements are quoted, Marmota confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that
materially affects the information included in the relevant market announcement and, in the case of estimates of Mineral Resources, that
all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to apply and

have not materially changed.
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Results
During the year, total cash expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities totalled $999,033.

The net loss of the Group after income tax was $2,272,190 (2019: loss $317,753), consisting of (i) an operating
loss of $208,394 (June 2019 loss: $317,753) and (ii) an impairment write-off of $2,063,796 (June 2019: $0).
The impairment write-off reflects the Company relinquishing tenements on the Yorke Peninsula that lie
outside the Company’s focus/prospectivity matrix.

The net assets of the Group have increased by $232,680 during the financial year from $8,874,181 at 30 June
2019 to $9,106,861 at 30 June 2020.

Dividends

No dividends have been paid or provided by the Group since the end of the previous financial year (2019: nil).

Junior Mineral Exploration Incentive (JMEI) Credits
Marmota distributed $363,000 of JMEI Taxation Credits back to eligible shareholders in December 2019,
relating to new investments made by those eligible shareholders in Marmota during the year to 30 June 2019.

State of affairs

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year.

Events subsequent to reporting date

In July 2020, subsequent to the end of the financial year, Marmota raised $6,500,000 (before costs) via a
placement to professional and sophisticated investors at 5.3c per share.

Likely developments

The Group’s strategy is to explore for gold, base metals and uranium within the Company’s highly prospective
portfolio of projects. The Board of Marmota Limited is pursuing a balance of direct self-funded exploration
and exploration via strategic partnerships and funding arrangements. The primary focus of exploration is
directed at progressing the Company’s Gawler Craton gold project which is yielding excellent results.

Environmental regulation and performance statement

The Group’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulations under both Commonwealth and
South Australian legislation in relation to discharge of hazardous waste and materials arising from any mining
activities and development conducted by the Group on any of its tenements. To date, the Group has only
carried out exploration activities and there have been no known breaches of any environmental obligations.

Indemnification and insurance of officers

Indemnification

The Company is required to indemnify the Directors and other Officers of the Company against any liabilities
incurred by the Directors and Officers that may arise from their position as Directors and Officers of the
Company. No costs were incurred during the year pursuant to this indemnity.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity with each Director whereby, to the extent permitted by
the Corporations Act 2001, the Company agreed to indemnify each Director against all loss and liability
incurred as an officer of the Company, including all liability in defending any relevant proceedings.

Insurance premiums
Since the end of the previous year, the Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and
Officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts.

The terms of the policies prohibit disclosure of details of the amount of the insurance cover, the nature
thereof and the premium paid.
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Options
At the reporting date, unissued ordinary shares of Marmota Limited under option are:
Expiry date* Exercise price Number of Options Vested Unvested Amount paid/payable
by recipient ($)
06/10/2021 $0.03 500,000 500,000 - -
09/11/2021 $0.03 2,000,000 2,000,000 - -

*  All options may be exercised at any time before expiry subject to escrow restrictions. Option holders will receive one
ordinary share in the capital of the Company for each option exercised.

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body
corporate.

During the financial year, 1,000,000 ordinary shares were issued by the Company as a result of the exercise of
options (2019: nil). There were no amounts unpaid on shares issued.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the Court for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or to intervene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Company for all or part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during
the year.

Corporate Governance Statement
The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement for the year ended 30 June 2020 may be accessed from the
Company’s website at: www.marmota.com.au/corporate/policies

Non-audit services
There were no non-audit services provided by the external auditors of the Parent or its related entities during
the year ended 30 June 2020.

Auditor of the Company
The auditor of the Company for the financial year was Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration as required by section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year
ended 30 June 2020 is set out immediately following the end of the Directors’ report.
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Remuneration Report

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of Marmota Limited has been designed to align key management personnel objectives
with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering other
incentives based on performance in achieving key objectives as approved by the Board. The Board of

Marmota Ltd believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain
the best key management personnel to run and manage the Company, as well as create goal congruence
between directors, executives and shareholders.

The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amounts of emoluments of Board members and other key
management personnel of the Company is as follows.

Remuneration and Nomination

The Audit, Governance and Remuneration Committee oversees remuneration matters and makes
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy, fees and remuneration packages for non-executive
directors and senior executives. Details of the committee’s members and its responsibilities are set out in the
Corporate Governance Statement.

Non-executive Remuneration Policies

The Company’s Constitution specifies that the total amount of remuneration of Non-executive Directors shall be
fixed from time to time by a general meeting. The current maximum aggregate remuneration of Non-executive
Directors has been set at $400,000 per annum. Directors may apportion any amount up to this maximum
amount amongst the Non-executive Directors as they determine. Directors are also entitled to be paid
reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred in performing their duties as Directors. The
fees paid to Non-executive Directors are not incentive or performance based but are fixed amounts that are
determined by reference to the nature of the role, responsibility and time commitment required for the
performance of the role including membership of board committees. The fees are set by the Audit, Governance
and Remuneration Committee which consults independent advice from time to time.

Non-executive Directors do not receive bonus payments and are not provided with retirement benefits other
than salary sacrifice and statutory superannuation.

Executive Remuneration Policies

The remuneration of the Executive Chairman is determined by the Audit, Governance and Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board as part of the terms and conditions of his/her employment which are
subject to review from time to time. The remuneration of other executive officers and employees is determined
by the Executive Chairman subject to the approval of the Board.

The Company’s remuneration structure is based on a number of factors including the particular experience and
performance of the individual in meeting key objectives of the Company. The Audit, Governance and
Remuneration Committee is responsible for assessing relevant employment market conditions and achieving
the overall, long term objective of maximising shareholder benefits, through the retention of high quality
personnel.

The remuneration structure and packages offered to executives are summarised below:

- Short-term incentive - The Company does not presently emphasise payment for results through the provision
of cash bonus schemes or other incentive payments based on key performance indicators of Marmota Limited
given the nature of the Company’s business as a mineral exploration entity and the current status of its
activities. However, the Board may approve the payment of cash bonuses from time to time in order to
reward individual executive performance in achieving key objectives as considered appropriate by the Board.
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- Long-term incentive — equity grants, which may be granted annually at the discretion of the Board. From time
to time, the Company may grant retention rights as considered appropriate by the Audit, Governance and
Remuneration Committee and the Board, as a long-term incentive for key management personnel. These
rights are subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting in the year of grant. The intention of
this remuneration is to facilitate the retention of key management personnel in order that the goals of the
business and shareholders can be met. Under the terms of the issue of the retention rights, the rights will vest
over a period of time, with a proportion of the rights vesting each year.

The Company also has a Director & Employee Share Option Plan approved by shareholders that will enable the
Board to offer eligible employees options to acquire ordinary fully paid shares in the Company. Under the
terms of the Plan, options for ordinary fully paid shares may be offered to the Company’s eligible employees
at no cost unless otherwise determined by the Board in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan.
The objective of the Plan is to align the interests of employees and shareholders by providing employees of
the Company with the opportunity to participate in the equity of the Company as an incentive to achieve
greater success and profitability for the Company and to maximise the long-term performance of the
Company.

At this time, the remuneration that is paid to Key Management Personnel is not related to the Company’s
financial performance over the last five years.

Remuneration Consultants
The company did not use any remuneration consultants during the year.

Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options
1,000,000 shares were issued to Directors as a result of the exercise of remuneration options during the financial
year.

Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each key management personnel of the
consolidated entity and for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.

(a) Directors and key management personnel
The names and positions held by Directors and key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the
whole of the financial year are:

Directors Position
Dr C Rose Chairman Executive from 5 June 2017
Dr K Wills Head of Exploration from 8 March 2016

Executive Director

from 5 June 2017

Mr Shane Barker

Head of Production

Executive Director

from 1 September 2019

Mr P Thompson

Director

Non-executive

from 26 May 2015 to 1 September 2019

Key Management
Personnel

Ms L Askham-Levy

Company Secretary and CFO

from 18 January 2018
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(b) Directors’ remuneration

Short Term Employee Post-Employee Long Term Share-based
Benefits Benefits Employee payments
Benefits
Non- Change in  Option Share
Directors’ Fixed Monetary Super LSL based based
fees Remuneration Benefits contributions Provision benefits payments  Total
2020 primary benefits $ S S $ S $ S $
Directors
Dr C Rose 1 72,999 12,000 - - - 85,000
Dr K Wills* - 52,298 - - - - - 52,298
Mr Shane Barker** - 9,311 - - - - - 9,311
Mr P Thompson*** 5,667 - - - - - - 5,667
5,668 134,608 - 12,000 - - - 152,276
Short Term Employee Post-Employee Long Term Share-based
Benefits Benefits Employee payments
Benefits
Non- Change in  Option Share
Directors’ Fixed Monetary Super LSL based based
fees Remuneration Benefits contributions Provision benefits payments  Total
2019 primary benefits $ S $ $ $ $ S $
Directors
Dr C Rose 1 72,151 - 12,848 - - - 85,000
Dr K Wills* - 69,383 - - - - - 69,383
Mr P Thompson*** 34,000 - - - - - - 34,000
34,001 141,534 - 12,848 - - - 188,383

There were no cash bonuses paid in 2020 or 2019.

*  Director’s fees for Dr Wills are paid to a related entity of the Director.

** Director’s fees for Mr Barker are paid to a related entity of the Director.

*** Director’s fees for Mr Thompson are paid to a related entity of the Director.
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(c) Key management personnel remuneration

Short Term Employee Post-Employee Long Term
Benefits Benefits Employee Benefits
Fixed Super Option based Share based Proportion of
Invoiced Remuneration contributions benefits payments  Total remuneration related
2020 primary benefits $ $ $ $ $ $ to performance
Key management personnel excluding Directors
L Askham-Levy* 31,400 11,324 1,076 - - 43,800 -
31,400 11,324 1,076 - - 43,800 -
Short Term Employee Post-Employee Long Term
Benefits Benefits Employee Benefits
Fixed Super Option based Share based Proportion of
Invoiced Remuneration contributions benefits payments  Total remuneration related
2019 primary benefits $ $ $ $ $ $ to performance
Key management personnel excluding Directors
L Askham-Levy* 43,800 - - - - 43,800 -
43,800 - - - - 43,800 -

There were no cash bonuses paid in 2020 or 2019.
*  Ms Askham-Levy was appointed as Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer on 18 January 2018.

(d) Share based payments

Share-based payments are in line with the Marmota Limited Director & Employee Share Option Plan.

Listed below are summaries of options granted:
(i) Options issued to directors and key management personnel

No options were issued to directors and key management personnel during the year.

(ii) Share based payments to key management personnel

There were no share based payments to key management personnel in the current or prior year.

(e) Service agreements

Dr Rose moved from the role of non-executive Chairman to Executive Chairman on 5 June 2017.

The salary

under the terms of his employment was set at $85,000 per annum inclusive of superannuation guarantee

contributions and included a one-month notice period.

Dr Wills was appointed Executive Director on 5 June 2017. In accordance with this agreement, Dr Wills is

remunerated as follows:

e From 1 July 2019, Dr Wills’ remuneration amounts to $4,358 per month (excluding GST) as Executive

Director. The amount of hours varies if Dr Wills is required to work additional days.

Mr Barker was appointed Executive Director on 1 September 2019. In accordance with this agreement,

Mr Barker is remunerated as follows:

*  From 1 September 2019, Mr Barkers’ remuneration amounts to $931 per month (excluding GST) as
Executive Director. The amount of hours varies if Mr Barker is required to work additional days.

There were no post-employment, retirement or termination benefits previously approved by members of the

Company in a general meeting, nor any such benefits paid to Directors of the Company.
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(f) Director related entities

Directors’ transactions with the Company

A number of Directors of the Company, or their Director related entities, held positions in other entities
during the financial year that result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or
operating policies of those entities.

The terms and conditions of the transactions with Directors and their Director related entities were no
more favourable to the Directors and their Director related entities than those available, or which might

reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to Non-director related entities on an

arm’s length basis.

There are no amounts recognised during the year or the prior year (excluding remuneration and re-
imbursement of expenses incurred on behalf of the Company) relating to Directors and their Director

related entities.

Amounts receivable from and payable to Directors and their Director related entities at reporting date

arising from these transactions were as follows:
Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Current payables
Amounts payable to directors™” 5,849 28,749
Accrued directors fees™ 7,083 -
12,932 28,749

(1) FY20 amount is amount payable for Director’s fees to the director or (related entity) of:
e DrCRose $7,083 (FY19 $21,250); and

®  MrP Thompson $0 (FY19 $3,117); and
d Dr K Wills $5,849 (FY19 $4,382).

(g) Post-employment/retirement and termination benefits
Other than superannuation contributions, there were no post-employment retirement and termination
benefits paid or payable to directors and key management personnel.
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(h) Directors and key management personnel equity remuneration, holdings and transactions

(i) Share holdings

The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Marmota Limited and
other key management personnel of the group, including their personal related parties, are set out below.
There were no shares granted to directors or key management personnel during the financial year.

Received Total held in
Balance as Options Net change Balance escrow

Shares 1/07/19 remuneration exercised other 30/06/20 30/06/20
Held by Directors in own name

Dr C Rose 87,114,523 - - 4,979,348 92,093,871 -

Dr K Wills - - - - - -

Mr S Barker - - - 371,087 371,087 -

Mr P Thompson - - - - - -
Held by Directors’ personally related entities

Dr C Rose 851,316 - - - 851,316 -

Dr K Wills 930,062 - - - 930,062 -

Mr S Barker - - - - - -

Mr P Thompson®® 3,919,963 - 1,000,000® (4,219,963) 700,000 -
Total held by Directors 92,815,864 - 1,000,000 1,130,472 94,946,336 -

(1) Net changes represent securities purchased during the financial year.

(2) Mr Thompson’s role as director ended on 1 September 2019.

(3) The fair value of the options exercised on 2 March 2020 is $2,000 (calculated as the difference between the share
price and the exercise price on that date).

Received Total held in
Balance as Options Net change Balance escrow
Shares 1/07/19 remuneration exercised Other 30/06/20 30/06/20
Held by Key management personnel in own name
Mrs Lisa Askham-Levy - - - 250,000 250,000 -

Held by Key management personnel in personally related entities

Mrs Lisa Askham-Levy - - - - - -

Total held by Key
management personnel - - - 250,000 250,000 -
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(ii) Option holdings

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of
Marmota Limited and any other key management personnel of the group, including their personal related

parties, are set out below.

Received Total
Balance as Options Lapsed Balance Total vested exercisable
Options 1/07/19 remuneration exercised 30/06/20 30/06/20 30/06/20
Held by Directors in own
name
Dr C Rose - - - - - - -
Dr K Wills - - - - - - -
Mr S Barker - - - - - - -
Mr P Thompson - - - - - - -
Directors’ personally related entities
Dr C Rose - - - - - - -
Dr K Wills 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Mr S Barker - - - - - - -
Mr P Thompson 3,000,000 - (1,000,000) (2,000,000) - - -
Total held by Director 5,000,000 - (1,000,000) (2,000,000) 2,000,000 - 2,000,000

(iii) ~ Share rights holdings

No rights over ordinary shares in the company were held during the financial year by any director of
Marmota Limited or by any other key management personnel of the group, including their personal
related parties. No share rights were granted to directors or key management personnel during the

financial year.

End of Remuneration Report

The Report of Directors, incorporating the Remuneration Report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of

the Board of Directors:

Dr Colin Rose
Chairman

Dated at Sydney this 29" day of September 2020
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

To the Directors of Marmota Limited

Level 3, 170 Frome Street
Adelaide SA 5000

Correspondence to:
GPO Box 1270
Adelaide SA 5001

T +61 8 8372 6666

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of Marmota
Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, | declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

C\ Y O \\v Ir\/\i; ' y“é?( N

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

N

B K Wundersitz
Partner — Audit & Assurance

Adelaide, 29 September 2020

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton” may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

www.grantthornton.com.au
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated

Note 2020 2019
$ $

Interest revenue 27,398 13,690
Other income 2 30,112 -
Total revenue 57,510 13,690
Administration expenses 3 149,079 129,461
Consulting expenses 3 5,180 55,670
Depreciation expense 3 5,022 1,777
Employment expenses 3 106,623 138,874
Occupancy expenses 3 - 5,661
Impairment of assets 3 2,063,796 -
(Loss) before income tax expense (2,272,190) (317,753)
Income tax (expense) 4 - -
(Loss) for the year (2,272,190) (317,753)
Loss attributable to members of the parent entity (2,272,190) (317,753)
Other comprehensive income

Fair value movement on other financial assets 1,000 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,271,190) (317,753)
Basic earnings per share (cents) 6 (0.285 cents) (0.048 cents)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 6 (0.285 cents) (0.048 cents)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated

Note 2020 2019
$ $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,411,717 1,374,131
Short term investments 37,500 -
Trade and other receivables 8 11,563 36,924
Other assets 10 17,021 16,771
Total current assets 2,477,801 1,427,826
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 30,000 30,000
Plant and equipment 11 34,193 24,336
Right of use assets 9 107,630 -
Investments in associates - 1
Other financial assets 12 5,000 4,000
Exploration and evaluation assets 15 6,735,962 7,800,725
Total non-current assets 6,912,785 7,859,062
Total assets 9,390,586 9,286,888
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 148,110 391,170
Provisions 17 11,547 10,162
Lease liabilities 18 35,051 -
Total current liabilities 194,708 401,332
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 17 16,438 11,375
Lease liabilities 18 72,579 -
Total non-current liabilities 89,017 11,375
Total liabilities 283,725 412,707
Net assets 9,106,861 8,874,181
Equity
Issued capital 19 41,120,619 38,616,749
Reserves 27 (2,731) 10,356
Retained losses (32,011,027) (29,752,924)
Total equity 9,106,861 8,874,181

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Issued Share option FVOCI
capital reserve reserve Retained Total
(Note 19) (Note 27) (Note 27) Earnings
$ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 37,344,550 21,856 (7,500) (29,435,171) 7,923,735
Loss attributable 'to the members ) ) ) (317,753) (317,753)
of the parent entity
Other comprehensive income - - - - -
Total comprehensive income - - - (317,753) (317,753)
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Shares issued during the year 1,320,000 - - - 1,320,000
Options expired or exercised - - - - -
Tran'sactlon costs associated with (47,801) ) ) ) (47,801)
the issue of shares net of tax
Equity instruments at fair value
through OCI (4,000) (4,000)

1,272,199 - (4,000) 1,268,199
Balance at 30 June 2019 38,616,749 21,856 (11,500) (29,752,924) 8,874,181
Balance at 1 July 2019 38,616,749 21,856 (11,500) (29,752,924) 8,874,181
Loss attributable 'to the members ) ) ) (2,272,190) (2,272,190)
of the parent entity
Other comprehensive income - - 1,000 - 1,000
Total comprehensive income - - 1,000 (2,272,190) (2,271,190)
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Shares issued during the year 2,530,000 - - - 2,530,000
Options issued during the year - - - - -
Options expired or exercised - (14,087) - 14,087 -
Tran'sactlon costs associated with (26,130) ) ) ) (26,130)
the issue of shares net of tax

2,503,870 (14,087) - 14,087 2,503,870
Balance at 30 June 2020 41,120,619 7,769 (10,500) (32,011,027) 9,106,861

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated

Note 2020 2019
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts in the course of operations 29,658 -
Cash payments in the course of operations (472,383) (273,520)
Interest received 27,398 13,690
Net cash (used in) operating activities 23(b) (415,327) (259,830)
Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for plant and equipment (14,878) -
Payments for exploration and evaluation assets (999,033) (1,193,597)
Payments for short term investments (37,500) -
Cash receipts from sale of assets 454

Net cash (used in) investing activities (1,050,957) (1,193,597)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 2,530,000 1,365,000
Payment of transaction costs associated with capital raisings (26,130) (61,667)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,503,870 1,303,333
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,037,586 (150,094)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 1,374,131 1,524,225
Cash at the end of the financial year 23(a) 2,411,717 1,374,131

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1

(a)

(b)

Statement of significant accounting policies

The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Marmota Limited and
controlled entities (‘consolidated group’ or ‘Group’).

Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporation Act 2001. Compliance with Australian Accounting
Standards results in full compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Company is a for-profit entity for the purposes of
preparing financial statements.

The following report covers the consolidated entity, Marmota Limited, a listed public company,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a
financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions.
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of this financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied unless
otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modified where
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial
liabilities.

New accounting standards and interpretations

AASB 16 Leases

The Group has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees
eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets, right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition is replaced with a depreciation
charge for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised
lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with
the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. Operating
expense is now replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification within the
statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and the principal portion of
the lease payments are separately disclosed in financing activities. For lessor accounting, the standard does
not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases.

The adoption of this new Standard had no impact on the financial position of the Group at 1 July 2019
because leases in effect at 1 July 2019 had a remaining lease term of less than 12 months from the date of
initial application and the Group applied the practical expedient to account for these leases as short term
and just recognise a lease expense.
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Other amended standards adopted by the Group which do not have a material impact on the financial
statements:

* Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

* AASB 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to AASB 9)

e AASB 128 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 128)
¢ Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective and not been adopted early by the Company

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period
ended 30 June 2020. The consolidated entity's assessment of the impact of these new or amended
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the consolidated entity, are set out below.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework)

The revised Conceptual Framework is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2021 and early adoption is permitted. The Conceptual Framework contains new definition and recognition
criteria as well as new guidance on measurement that affects several Accounting Standards. Where the
consolidated entity has relied on the existing framework in determining its accounting policies for
transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the Australian Accounting
Standards, the consolidated entity may need to review such policies under the revised framework. At this
time, the application of the Conceptual Framework is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated entity's financial statements.

(c) Principles of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 June 2020.
The Parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. All
transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset
sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

(d)  Income tax
The income tax expense/(benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and
deferred income tax expense/(income).

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated
using applicable income tax rates enacted at reporting date.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances
during the year as well as unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax (expense)/benefit is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the
profit or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets
also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred
income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income except where it relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which
case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that
the Company will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and
comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

(e)  Plant and equipment
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable
amounts.

Depreciation
All fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Group commencing
from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Depreciation
Class of fixed asset rate
Plant and equipment 5% —33%

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(f)  Right of use assets

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is

measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable,
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received,
any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of
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costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site
or asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated
useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease
liability for short-term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease
payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

(g) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of
interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped
through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a
stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in
which the decision to abandon the area is made.

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised
over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and
are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of
mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal and rehabilitation of the site in
accordance with clauses of the mining permits. Such costs are determined using estimates of future
costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis.

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the
costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to
community expectations and future legislation. Accordingly, the costs are determined on the basis that
the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.

(h) Lease liabilities
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the
consolidated entity's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the
exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying
amounts are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and
termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding
right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written
down.
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(i)

Previous Policy
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Other financial assets

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are
included as part of the initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Such assets are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their
classification. Classification is determined based on both the business model within which such assets
are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset unless an accounting
mismatch is being avoided.

Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been
transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. When there is no reasonable expectation of recovering part or all of a financial asset, its
carrying value is written off.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will
be either: (i) held for trading, where they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with
an intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) designated as such upon initial recognition where
permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include equity investments that the
consolidated entity intends to hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to classify
them as such upon initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which
are either measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The
measurement of the loss allowance depends upon the consolidated entity’s assessment at the end of
each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without
undue cost or effort to obtain.

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-
month expected credit loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset’s lifetime
expected credit losses that is attributable to a default event that is possible within the next 12 months.
Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is determined that credit risk has
increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset’s lifetime expected credit losses. The
amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted
present value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding expense through profit
or loss. In all other cases, the loss allowance reduces the asset’s carrying value with a corresponding
expense through profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
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and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over
its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income.

(k) Employee benefits
Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by
employees to reporting date. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs.
Employee benefits payable later than one year are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that
the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on
high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.

Equity settled compensation

The Group operates equity settled share-based payment employee share option schemes. The fair value
of options is ascertained using the Black-Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting
conditions. The fair value of retention rights is ascertained using the binomial valuation model.

() Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

(n) Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial
assets, is the rate inherent in the instrument. All revenue is stated net of goods and services tax (GST).

(o) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated in the Statement of Financial Position inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO
are classified as operating cash flows.

(p) Interests in joint operations
A joint venture is an arrangement that the Group controls jointly with one or more other investors, and
over which the Group has rights to a share of the arrangement’s net assets rather than direct rights to
underlying assets and obligations for underlying liabilities. A joint arrangement in which the Group has
direct rights to underlying assets and obligations for underlying liabilities is classified as a joint
operation. Details of the Group’s interests are shown at Note 13.
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(q) Investments in associates
Associate companies are companies in which the group has significant influence through holding,
directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting power of the company. Investments in associate
companies are recognised in the financial statements by applying the equity method of accounting. The
equity method of accounting recognises the initial investment at cost and adjusted thereafter for the
Group’s share of post-acquisition reserves and profits/ (losses) of its associates.

(r) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for
goods and services received by the group during the period which remains unpaid. The balance is
recognised as a current liability with the amount being normally paid within 30 days of recognition of
the liability.

(s) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the
Group, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account the after-income tax effect and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(t) Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.

(u) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends of economic data, obtained both
externally and within the Group.

Key estimates — impairment

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group
that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is determined.

Key judgements - exploration and evaluation expenditure

The group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is considered likely to
be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment
of the existence of reserves. While there are certain areas of interest from which no reserves have been
extracted, the directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should not be written off
since feasibility studies in such areas have not yet concluded.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
has had, or may have, on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration
extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and
geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. Other than as addressed in specific notes,
there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any
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significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the consolidated entity
unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic.

Incremental borrowing rate

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate
is estimated to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the
lease commencement date. Such a rate is based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would
have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-
of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment.

(v) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Marmota Limited, disclosed in Note 29 has been
prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements.

(w)  Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentational currency
Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Marmota Limited’s
functional and presentational currency.

(x)  Authorisation for issue of financial statements
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2020.
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Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
2 Other income
Other income:
From operating activities
Profit on sale of asset 454 -
ATO cash boost payment 29,658 -
Total revenues 30,112 -
3 (Loss)/profit before income tax expense has been determined after
Expenses
Administration expenses
ASX fees 35,810 31,439
Share registry fees 15,030 15,448
Insurance 12,872 16,358
Audit and other services 31,170 30,750
Travel 1,688 3,394
Marketing 6,660 7,000
Software licences and IT services 3,410 3,481
Other 42,439 21,591
149,079 129,461
Consulting expenses
Legal fees (20,000) 20,920
Accounting and secretarial services 25,180 34,750
5,180 55,670
Depreciation expense
Plant and equipment 18,047 18,925
Reallocation to exploration costs (15,108) (17,148)
Right of use assets 2,083
5,022 1,777
Employment expenses
Salaries and wages 272,814 274,659
Directors fees 5,667 34,000
Superannuation 22,895 20,782
Provisions 6,447 2,504
Share-based payments - directors - -
Other 4,339 4,698
Reallocation to exploration costs (205,539) (197,769)
106,623 138,874
Occupancy expenses - 5,661
Impairment expenses
Impairment of exploration assets 2,063,796 -
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4 Income tax

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
The components of tax expense comprise:
Current income tax -
Deferred tax -
Tax portion of capital raising costs - -
Income tax (expense) reported in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income - -
The prima facie tax on profit before income tax is reconciled to the
income tax as follows:
Prima facie income tax (expense) calculated at 27.50% on loss
(2019: 27.50%) (624,852) (87,382)
Tax effect of:
Deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses not brought to
account 339,245 465,243
Exploration expenditure s40-730 (274,734) (372,476)
Tax effect in amounts not deductable (7,203) (5,385)
Impairment expense previously brought to account 567,544 -
Income tax (expense) attributable to loss - -
Income tax losses
Deferred tax asset arising from carried forward tax losses not
recognised at reporting date as the asset is not regarded as meeting
the probable criteria
- tax losses at 27.5% 7,598,429 7,614,406
- tax losses distributed as JMEI/EDI credits (363,000) (275,000)
Total deferred tax asset 7,235,429 7,339,406

Temporary differences (19) 2,459
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Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
5 Auditors’ remuneration
Audit services:
Auditors of the Group — Grant Thornton
Audit and review of the financial reports 31,170 30,750
31,170 30,750

No non audit services are provided.

6 Earnings per share

(a) Classification of securities
All ordinary shares have been included in basic earnings per share.

(b) Classification of securities as potential ordinary shares
* QOunlisted options exercisable at $0.018 by 16/12/2019 (2019: 550,000)
* 500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 6/10/2021  (2019: 500,000)
e 2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 9/11/2021 (2019: 5,000,000)

Options granted to employees under the Marmota Limited Director & Employee Share Option Plan are
considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings

per share to the extent to which they are dilutive.

Consolidated

2020 2020
$ $
(c) Earnings used in the calculation of earnings per share
(Loss) after income tax expense (2,272,190) (317,753)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year in calculating earnings per share

Number for basic and diluted earnings per share
Ordinary shares 796,908,540 664,408,781
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Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank 2,411,717 1,335,298
Deposits at call - 38,833
2,411,717 1,374,131
Trade and other receivables
Current
Other receivables 11,563 36,924
11,563 36,924
Non-Current
Other receivables 30,000 30,000
30,000 30,000

Other receivables represent accrued interest receivable, bond deposits, and GST refunds. Receivables are not

considered past due and/or impaired.

Right of use assets

Right of use assets
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each
Right of use asset are set out below:

Right of use assets

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Carrying amount at end of year

Other current assets

Prepayments

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment

At cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

112,211
(4,581)

107,630

112,211

(4,581)

107,630

17,021

16,773

757,289
(723,096)

734,386
(710,050)

34,193

24,336




Marmota Limited and Controlled Entities
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

MARMOTA

12

13

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of
plant and equipment are set out below:

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Carrying amount at end of year

Financial Assets

24,336 43,261
27,903 -

(18,046) (18,925)

34,193 24,336

Consolidated

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income — shares in listed companies

Interests in unincorporated joint operations

2020 2019
s s
5,000 4,000

Marmota Limited has a direct interest in a number of unincorporated joint operations as follows:

No State Agreement name Parties

Summary

1 SA Junction Dam Teck Australia Pty Ltd,
Uranium PlatSearch NL and
Agreement Eaglehawk Geological

Consulting Pty Ltd
(TPE) and Marmota
Limited (MEU)

MEU has the right to explore for uranium
in the area covered by Exploration Licence
EL 5682 (formerly EL 4509). MEU has
achieved its 100% earn-in and holds 100%
of the uranium rights under the terms of
the Agreement. TPE retains a NSR of 5%.
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14 Controlled entities

(a) Controlled entities consolidated

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following
controlled entity in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(b):

Country of Percentage owned (%)
incorporation
2020 2019
Parent entity:
Marmota Limited Australia
Marmosa Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

15  Exploration and evaluation assets

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Movement:
Carrying amount at beginning of year 7,800,725 6,446,266
Additional costs capitalised during the year 999,033 1,354,459
Impairment” (2,063,796) -
Carrying amount at end of year 6,735,962 7,800,725

(1) The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration phase is dependent on the
successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas. During the
year, a number of tenements expired and were not renewed. All of the associated costs with these

tenements were written off during the year.

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Closing balance comprises:
Exploration and evaluation
- 100% owned 6,537,019 5,567,909
Exploration and evaluation
- Joint operation 198,943 2,232,816

6,735,962 7,800,725
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16  Trade and other payables
Trade payables 63,076 225,414
Other payables and accruals 72,102 137,007
Amounts payable to Director related entities* 12,932 28,749
148,110 391,170
* Details of amounts payable to Director related entities are detailed in Note 24.
17  Provisions
Current
Employee benefits 11,547 10,162
Non-current
Employee benefits 16,438 11,375

Provision for long service leave

A provision for long service leave has been recognised for employee benefits. In calculating the present
value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being
taken is based on historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee
benefits have been included in Note 1 to this report.

18 Lease liabilities

Current
Lease liabilities 35,051 -

Non-current
Lease liabilities 72,579 -
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Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
19  Issued capital
Issued and paid-up share capital
845,392,180 (2019: 735,696,452) ordinary shares, fully paid 38,616,749 38,616,749
(a) Ordinary shares
Balance at the beginning of year 38,616,749 37,344,550
Shares issued during the year:
108,695,728 shares: pursuant to SPP (9 Dec 2019) at $0.023 2,500,000 -
1,000,000 shares:  exercise of options (28 Feb 2020) at $0.03 30,000 -
Shares issued during the prior year:
62,500,000 shares: pursuant to a placement at $0.016 - 1,000,000
20,000,000 shares: pursuant to a placement at $0.016 - 320,000
Less transaction costs arising from issue of shares net of tax (26,130) (47,801)
Balance at end of year 41,120,619 38,616,749

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Group does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

In the event of winding up of the Group, ordinary shareholders rank after all creditors and are fully
entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

(b) Options/rights

There were no share options/retention rights issued to Executive Directors during the financial year.
For information relating to the Marmota Limited Director & Employee Share Option Plan including
details of any options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year, refer to Note 20.

At 30 June 2020, there were 2,500,000 unissued shares for which the following options were
outstanding.
. 500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 06/10/2021
e 2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 09/11/2021

At 30 June 2019, there were 6,050,000 unissued shares for which the following options were
outstanding.

J 550,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.018 by 16/12/2019
J 500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 06/10/2021
e 5,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.03 by 09/11/2021

(c) Capital Management
Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and
adjusting its capital structure accordingly. These responses include share issues. There have been no
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changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior
year. The Group’s capital is shown as issued capital in the Statement of Financial Position.

Share-based payments

Share-based payments are in line with the Marmota Limited Employee Share Option Plan, details of
which are outlined in the Directors’ Report. Listed below are summaries of options granted:

(i) Options
2020 2019
Marmota Limited Number of  Weighted Weighted Number of Weighted Weighted
options average average options average average
exercise remaining exercise remaining
price contractual price contractual
life life
Outstanding at the 6,050,000 $0.029 6,050,000 $0.029
beginning of the year
Granted - -
Forfeited/Lapsed (2,000,000) - - -
Exercised (1,000,000) - - -
Expired 550,000 - - -
Outstanding at year-end 2,500,000 $0.030 490 days 6,050,000 $0.029 797 days
Exercisable at year-end 2,500,000 6,050,000

On 17 December 2014, 1,270,000 share options were granted to former employees under the Marmota
Limited Employee Share Option Plan to take up ordinary shares at an exercise price of $0.018 each.
These options were exercisable on or before 16 December 2019. Of these options, 400,000 were
exercised and 320,000 lapsed in prior years; the remaining 550,000 expired during the year ending 30

June 2020.

On 6 October 2016, 1,000,000 share options were granted to employees under the Marmota Limited
Employee Share Option Plan to take up ordinary shares at an exercise price of $0.03 each. These options

are exercisable on or before 6 October 2021. During the 2018 year, 500,000 options were forfeited, leaving
500,000 at 30 June 2020.

On 9 November 2016, 5,000,000 share options were granted to directors and employees under the
Marmota Limited Director & Employee Share Option Plan to take up ordinary shares at an exercise price of
$0.03 each. During the 2020 year, 1,000,000 options were exercised and 2,000,000 lapsed, leaving
2,000,000 at 30 June 2020. These options are exercisable on or before 9 November 2021.

The options are non-transferable except as allowed under the Director & Employee Share Option Plan
and are not quoted securities. At the reporting date, other than as disclosed in the table above, no
share options had been exercised. All options granted to key management personnel are over ordinary
shares in Marmota Limited, which confer a right of one ordinary share for every option held.
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21  Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable and loans to and from subsidiaries and related entities.

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,449,217 1,374,131
Loans and receivables 41,563 66,924
Equity investments at FVOCI 5,000 4,000
2,495,780 1,445,055

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 148,110 371,170

148,110 371,170

Financial risk management policies
The Board of Directors are responsible for monitoring and managing financial risk exposures of the
group.

Specific financial risk exposures and management
The main financial risks the group is exposed to include liquidity risk, credit risk and interest rate risk.

(a) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows, only investing surplus cash with
major financial institutions; and comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation
profile of financial assets.

The Board meets on a regular basis to analyse financial risk exposure and evaluate treasury
management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. The
Board’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the consolidated group in managing its cash
flows.

Financial liabilities are expected to be settled within 12 months.

(b) Credit risk exposures
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as
contracted.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on financial assets, excluding investments, of the entity which
have been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, is the carrying amount, net of any
provision for doubtful debts.

No receivables are considered past due or impaired at reporting date.
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(c) Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and liabilities recognised at reporting date
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate
financial instruments.

The Group has no long term financial liabilities upon which it pays interest. Cash is held in an interest
yielding cheque account and on short term call deposit where the interest rate is both fixed and variable
according to the financial asset. Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate
cash deposits.

(d) Sensitivity analysis

Interest rate

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at reporting
date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could
result from a change in these risks. It should be noted that the Group does not have borrowings and any
impacts would be in relation to deposit yields on cash investments.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
At reporting date, the effect on profit/ (loss) and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with
all other variables remaining constant would be as follows:

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $

Change in loss

Increase in interest rates by 2% 48,984 27,483

Decrease in interest rates by 2% (48,984) (27,483)
Change in equity

Increase in interest rates by 2% 48,984 27,483

Decrease in interest rates by 2% (48,984) (27,483)

Commitments & contingent liabilities

(a) Exploration expenditure commitments

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group will be required to
outlay in the year ending 30 June 2020 amounts of approximately $1,300,000 (2019: $1,600,000) to
meet minimum expenditure requirements pursuant to various joint venture requirements and those
specified by the State Government of South Australia. These obligations are subject to renegotiation
when application for a mining lease is made and at other times. These obligations are not provided for
in the financial report.

(b) Guarantees

The Group has negotiated a number of bank guarantees in favour of various government authorities and
service providers. The total nominal amount of these guarantees at the reporting date is $37,500 (2019:
$37,500). These bank guarantees are fully secured by cash on term deposit.



Marmota Limited and Controlled Entities
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

MARMOTA

(c) Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2020, there was a contingent liability of $66,434:

e $47,915 for the Groundhog Services Partnership (being Marmota 50% share) assessment received
from Revenue SA for payroll tax relating to 2010 — 2015 financial years in respect of a disputed
change in grouping.

e $18,519 for Marmota Ltd’s assessment from Revenue SA for payroll tax relating to 2012-2015
financial years in respect of the disputed change in grouping.

These assessments are currently being disputed. (2019: $66,434).

Consolidated
Note 2020 2019
$ $

23  Notes to the statements of cash flows

(a) Cash at the end of the financial year consists of the following:

Cash at bank and at call 7 2,411,717 1,374,131
2,411,717 1,374,131

(b) Reconciliation of (loss) after income tax to net cash outflow from operating

activities
(Loss) after income tax (2,272,190) (317,753)
Add/(less) non-cash items
Depreciation 5,022 18,923
Gain on sale of plant and equipment (454) -
Impairment of assets 2,063,796 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (250) (45,000)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 25,361 55,855
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (243,060) 25,639
(Decrease)/increase in provisions 6,448 2,506
Net cash (used in) operating activities (415,327) (259,830)

24  Related parties

Directors’ transactions with the Company

A number of Directors of the Company, or their Director related entities, held positions in other entities
during the financial year that result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or
operating policies of those entities. The terms and conditions of the transactions with Directors and
their Director related entities were no more favourable to the Directors and their Director related
entities than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar
transactions to Non-director related entities on an arm’s length basis. There are no amounts recognised
during the year or the prior year (excluding remuneration and re-imbursement of expenses incurred on
behalf of the Company) relating to Directors and their Director related entities.
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26

27

Amounts receivable from and payable to Directors and their Director related entities at reporting date
arising from these transactions were as follows:
Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $

Current payables
Amounts payable to directors™” 5,849 28,749
Accrued directors fees'” 7,083 -

12,932 28,749

(1) FY20 amount is amount invoiced for Director’s fees by a related entity of:
e DrCRose $7,083 (FY19 $21,250); and

®  MrP Thompson $0 (FY19 $3,117); and
d Dr K Wills $5,849 (FY19 $4,382).

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration
paid or payable to each member of the Company’s key management personnel for the year ended 30
June 2020.

The totals of remuneration paid to directors and key management personnel during the year are as
follows:

Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $
Short term employee benefits 196,076 232,183
Share-based payments - -
196,076 232,183

Operating segments

The Directors have considered the requirements of AASB8 — Operating Segments and the internal reports
that are reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the Board) in allocating resources and have
concluded that at this time there are no separately identifiable segments.

Events subsequent to reporting date
In July 2020, Marmota raised $6,500,000 (before costs) via a placement to professional and
sophisticated investors at 5.3c per share.

Reserves

Share options reserve

The share options reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share
options and retention rights.

Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) reserve (previously available for sale reserve)
The FVOCI reserve comprises gains and losses relating to these types of financial instruments.
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Consolidated

2020 2019
$ $

Reserves
Share option reserve
Opening balance at beginning of year 21,856 21,856
Fair value of options issued to employees - -
Options exercised, forfeited or expired (14,087) -
Balance at end of year 7,769 21,856
FVOCI reserve
Opening balance at beginning of year 11,500 (7,500)
Fair value movement (1,000) (4,000)
Balance at end of year (10,500) (11,500)
Total Reserves (2,731) 10,356

28  Fair value measurement of financial instruments

AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the fair value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as sales prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

The group’s financial asset and financial liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
30 June 2020 $ $ $ $
Financial assets at fair value
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI
Listed securities 5,000 - - 5,000
Net fair value 5,000 - - 5,000
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
30 June 2019 $ $ $ $
Financial assets at fair value
Equity instruments classified as available for sale
Listed securities 4,000 - - 4,000
Net fair value 4,000 - - 4,000

30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 on a recurring basis are as follows:
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Measurement of fair value of financial instruments
The methods and fair valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting period.

Listed securities
Fair values have been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

Fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of other current and non-current receivables and payables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value hierarchy:
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2), and

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3)
All financial instruments were valued using level 1 valuation techniques. There were no changes in
valuation techniques for financial instruments in the period.

Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value using the closing price on the reporting dates
as listed on the Australian Securities Exchange limited (ASX). The carrying value of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Marmota Limited company information

2020 2019
$ $
Parent entity

Assets

Current assets 2,604,608 1,554,604

Non-current assets 6,966,737 7,732,256
Total assets 9,571,345 9,286,860
Liabilities

Current liabilities 267,289 401,332

Non-current liabilities 16,438 11,375
Total liabilities 283,727 412,707
Equity

Issued capital 41,120,619 38,616,749

Retained losses (31,830,270) (29,752,952)

Share option reserve 7,769 21,856

FVOCl reserve (10,500) (11,500)
Total equity 9,287,618 8,874,153
Financial performance

(Loss) for the year (2,077,318) (317,813)

Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income (2,077,318) (317,813)

Guarantees in relation to the debts of subsidiaries:
Contingent liabilities 66,434 66,434
Contractual commitments - 32,446
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30 Company details

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Marmota Limited
Unit 6, 79-81 Brighton Road
Glenelg SA 5045
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Directors’ declaration

The Directors of Marmota Limited declare that
(a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and:

(i) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of the
performance for the year ended on that date of the consolidated entity; and

(ii) comply with Accounting Standards; and

(iii) Marmota Limited complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

(b) The person holding the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer functions has
declared that:

(i) The financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly
maintained in accordance with s286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

(ii) The financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the accounting
standards; and

(iii)  The financial statement and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

(c) In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dated at Sydney this 29" day of September 2020

/)

Dr Colin Rose
Chairman
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Adelaide SA 5001

T +61 8 8372 6666

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Marmota Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Marmota Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and the Directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

a giving a true and fair view of the Group'’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’'s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Exploration and evaluation assets — Note 15

At 30 June 2020 the carrying value of exploration and Our procedures included, amongst others:

evaluation assets was $6,735,962.

[ ]
In accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of
Mineral Resources, the Group is required to assess at each
reporting date if there are any triggers for impairment which .
may suggest the carrying value is in excess of the recoverable
value.

The process undertaken by management to assess whether
there are any impairment triggers in each area of interest
involves an element of management judgment.

This area is a key audit matter due to the significant
judgement involved in determining the existence of impairment
triggers.

Obtaining the management reconciliation of capitalised
exploration and evaluation expenditure and agreeing to the
general ledger;

Reviewing management’s area of interest considerations
against AASB 6;

Conducting a detailed review of management’s
assessment of trigger events prepared in accordance with
AASB 6 including;

— Tracing projects to statutory registers, exploration
licenses and third party confirmations to determine
whether a right of tenure existed;

— Enquiry of management regarding their intentions to
carry out exploration and evaluation activity in the
relevant exploration area, including review of
management’s budgeted expenditure;

— Understanding whether any data exists to suggest that
the carrying value of these exploration and evaluation
assets are unlikely to be recovered through
development or sale;

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
management’s experts in the evaluation of potential
impairment triggers

Assessing the completeness of impairment booked during
the year; and

Assessing the appropriateness of the related financial
statement disclosures.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Company’s Director’s Report for the year end 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

(AS AT 22 OCTOBER 2020)

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not
disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below.

The information is current at 22 October 2020.

Distribution of Equity Securities

Ordinary Share Capital

Fully paid ordinary shares are held by 2,734 individual shareholders.

Options
Unlisted options are held by 6 individual option holders.

Substantial shareholders
The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below:

Substantial shareholder Number of fully paid ordinary shares held

Dr Colin Rose 92,093,871

Voting rights

Fully paid ordinary shares

Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of shares, at a meeting of members, on a
show of hands, each member present (in person, by proxy, attorney or representative) has one vote
and on a poll, each member present (in person, by proxy, attorney or representative) has one vote
for each fully paid share they hold.

Distribution of equity security holders
Category Holders of Holders of Holders of Holders of

Ordinary shares 09/11/2021 22/07/2022 23/08/2023
$0.03 Options  $0.10 Options  $0.10 Options

1-1,000 236 - - -
1,001 - 5,000 125 - - -
5,001 - 10,000 304 - - -
10,001 - 100,000 1,269 - 50 -
100,001 and over 800 1 114 3
Total Number of security

holders 2,734 1 164 3

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 449.
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On market buy-back
There is no current on-market buy-back.

Twenty largest shareholders

The names of the 20 largest holders of fully paid ordinary shares constituting a class of quoted
equity securities on the Australian Stock Exchange Limited including the number and percentage

held by those holders at 22 October 2020 are as follows:

Name Number of fully paid Percentage
ordinary shares held held
Dr Colin Rose 92,093,871 9.51
Southern Cross Capital Pty Ltd 45,555,555 4.70
Cosell Pty Limited 31,500,000 3.25
Ms Jacqueline Rose 29,897,873 3.09
Mrs Bete Rose 23,617,803 2.44
Gregory Ross Plummer 19,934,414 2.06
N B T Pty Ltd 18,284,903 1.89
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd 17,500,000 1.81
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 17,257,511 1.78
CS Fourth Nominees Pty Limited 13,093,298 1.35
SEP Investments Pty Limited 12,500,000 1.29
Mr Joseph Richard Mistarz 12,000,000 1.24
Tattersfield Securities Limited 11,719,314 1.21
WFC Nominees Australia Pty Ltd 8,462,238 0.87
Mr Bradley Keith Moir 8,108,000 0.84
Pitt Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd 7,960,603 0.82
BB Capital Pty Ltd 7,249,048 0.75
AJM Super Co Pty Ltd 6,309,000 0.65
N B T Pty Ltd 6,304,348 0.65
Sanperez Pty Ltd 6,168,215 0.64
395,515,994 40.84
Unquoted equity securities
Options
Details of options on issue which are unquoted are as follows.
Expiry date Exercise Number of Number Number of

price Options Unquoted holders
09/11/2021 $0.03 2,000,000 2,000,000 1
22/07/2022 $0.10 68,820,755 68,820,755 164
23/08/2023 $0.10 4,500,000 4,500,000 3
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